M221 Willow Tea Rooms

Introduction

Honeyman, Keppie & Mackintosh made major alterations to a city-centre tenement building in 1903, reconstructing the Sauchiehall Street elevation and giving it a striking roughcast finish, and creating distinctive decorative interiors for client Miss Catherine (Kate) Cranston. In 1906, decoration and alterations to extend services in the basement were carried out. In 1916–17, the Dug Out tea room was created in an adjoining basement. The Sauchiehall Street elevation and mezzanine and first-floor tea rooms were reconstructed in 1979–80.

Authorship: Mackintosh was named as architect in a Glasgow newspaper article marking the opening. A celebratory article written by Fernando Agnoletti was published in a German journal in 1905. Mackintosh commented on Miss Cranston's satisfaction with his work in letters to Hermann Muthesius in 1903.

Alternative names: Miss Cranston's Lunch and Tea Rooms, Sauchiehall Street; The Kensington; Kensington Tearooms.

Cost from job book: Phases 1 and 2: £4,130 0s 4d; Phase 3: £394 19s 7d; Phase 4: £56 2s 0d; cost of Dug Out not known

Status: Standing building; N. elevation and some interiors recreated

Current name: The Willow Tea Rooms

Current use: Shop on ground floor; tea rooms on mezzanine and first floors; offices and storage on second and third floors and in basement (2014)

Listing category: A: Listed as '217 Sauchiehall Street, and 114, 116 Sauchiehall Lane, formerly Willow Tea Rooms'

Historic Scotland/HB Number: 33173

RCAHMS Site Number: NS56NE 784

Grid reference: NS 58594 65839

Chronology

c. 1865
Construction of block between W. Campbell Street and Mains Street (later Blythswood Street) containing 211–217 Sauchiehall Street and known as Kensington Place.

1903
12 March: Dean of Guild Court approval granted for work at 211–7 Sauchiehall Street. 1

25 March: Work on site under way. 2

28 March: Contractor tenders accepted. 3

20 April: Gallery under construction. 4

3 June: Front windows in progress. 5

By 29 October: Lunch and tea rooms open to customers. 6

4 November: Final inspection visit. 7

1906
29 March: Dean of Guild approval granted for interior alterations to Willow Tea Rooms. 8

22 May: Final payment to contractor for work begun in 1903. 9

11 June: Work for lavatories and W.C.s in progress. 10
6 August: Final inspection visit. 11

1916
21 December: Dean of Guild approval granted for interior alterations to Willow Tea Rooms in the basement of 219 Sauchiehall Street. 12

1917
12 February: Building work in progress. 13
8 May: Interior work progressing. 14
5 September: Final inspection visit. 15
22 October: Death of Kate Cranston's husband John Cochrane. 16

1919
Kate Cranston retires. Lunch and Tea Rooms sold to Glasgow restaurateur John Smith who renames the business 'The Kensington'. 17

1927
John Smith sells to Daly & Co. and the premises are incorporated into Daly's department store. Extensive alterations are made to the Sauchiehall Street elevation, and internally. All of the former lunch and tea rooms are used for display and sales. 18

1975–6
The former Ladies' Room, or Room de Luxe, on the first floor operates as a café known as the 'Willow Coffee Room'. Previously it had served Daly's suite of bridal sales and fitting rooms. 19

1978
Daly & Co., now owned by House of Fraser, relocates to the new Sauchiehall Centre slightly further E. on the former site of Pettigrew & Stephen's warehouse. The property is purchased by developer Arrowcroft Ltd. 20

1979–80
Major reconstruction supervised by Geoffrey Wimpenne of Keppie, Henderson & Partners for Arrowcroft Ltd. 21

1980
21 April 1980: official reopening including the recreated tea room interiors. 22

1983
217 leased to M. M. Henderson Ltd, Jewellers. Alterations carried out. 23

November: Reopening of the Ladies' Room, or Room de Luxe, as a tea room. 24

1996
14 February: the Gallery reopens as a tea room. 25

1999
Conservation report drawn up by Piers Kettlewell, furniture-maker and conservator.

2006
Purchase of the block of Sauchiehall Street containing the tea rooms by the Wilson Group. Existing tenants remain. 26

2008
May: Draft conservation plan drawn up by Simpson & Brown, Architects, in connection with a Listed Building Consent application for repairs to the elevations. 27

2013
May: Willow Tea Rooms takes over the lease for the whole building and opens up on the ground floor on 1 June.

Description

Background

211–217 Sauchiehall Street occupy the middle of a large block between Mains Street – now Blythswood Street – and West Campbell Street, which was built c. 1865 and was originally known as Kensington Place. The whole block was the property of the Trustees of the late John Henderson, who are named as clients in the job-book entry. However, like other work carried out by Honeyman, Keppie & Mackintosh in this block, it was the lessee who commissioned the architects and paid for the work; in this case Miss Catherine (Kate) Cranston. 1

Miss Cranston's Lunch and Tea Rooms in Sauchiehall Street, the Willow Tea Rooms as they became known, was the fourth of her renowned refreshment establishments with which Mackintosh was involved. Here Mackintosh was responsible for the exterior for the first time, as well as for the interior arrangement
and decoration. The name of the tea rooms is reflected in the decorative leitmotif chosen by Mackintosh, which was derived from the meaning of 'Sauchiehall' or 'Sauchiehaugh': alley of willows.  

As had George Walton at Miss Cranston's in Buchanan Street in 1896, Mackintosh designed a hoarding, with characteristic dark stencilling and lettering on a white background, to protect passers-by and hide the building site during construction. Mackintosh wrote to Hermann Muthesius in April or May 1903 that he had been 'out each morning at 6 o'clock decorating the barricade'.  

The Willow Tea Rooms were extensively reconstructed in 1979–80 and so much of what is seen today (2014), including the ground floor of the famous N. elevation to Sauchiehall Street, dates from that time (see 'Later Alterations' below).

**Exterior**

Sauchiehall Street

Before alteration in 1903, 215–217 Sauchiehall Street had a painted ashlar stone façade and plate-glass shop front on the ground floor. To the left of the shop door was a further door giving access to common internal stairs at the rear of the building. These served the tenements above the shop and its neighbour to the E. at 211. As the set of drawings submitted to the Glasgow Dean of Guild Court in March 1903 – probably drawn and definitely annotated by Mackintosh – illustrate, Mackintosh's remodelling of the appearance and proportions of the façade would stand in striking contrast to the adjacent buildings on Sauchiehall Street. Miss Cranston's premises were to take in the entirety of 215–217, so the interiors were widened by absorbing the tenement stair corridor to give a new broader frontage. Two new sets of stairs would provide access to the upper floors of 211 from a door at the rear of the building on Sauchiehall Lane, the first to the first floor and the second via a passage from the first floor up to the second and third floors.

Mackintosh's façade had two distinct halves: a slender, unmoulded, projecting stringcourse above the first-floor window divided it into two sections. Below, an entirely new design was created; above, the existing structure was altered.

The wide horizontal bands of glazing at ground- and first-floor levels were realised by means of a goalpost-like arrangement of two rolled-steel stanchions at the edges of the façade supporting a concrete-filled rolled-steel girder above the first-floor window to carry the façade of the floors above. The ground floor was set back from the public pavement and had metal-framed small-paned leaded glazing with entrance door adjacent. A second band of similar glazing projected over the door and window. Two large circular wrought-iron ornaments decorated the upper glazing.

The first-floor façade projected beyond the original building line. This was achieved by extending the length of the existing first-floor girders. The façade was curved to correspond to the curve of the wide bow window which sat flush with the wall. As on the ground floor the window was metal-framed, with leaded glass. To either side were two wrought-iron shop signs with motifs said to represent the willow and the swallow.

On the second and third floors, the left (E.) side of the façade has a shallow bow. This was done perhaps, as Howarth suggested, to articulate the dog-leg stair inside the building; at buildings of this period, such as Windyhill, The Hill House and Scotland Street School, Mackintosh consistently located stairs inside rounded tower-like features with landings in the curved portion.

The original disposition of the windows on these upper floors was preserved to some extent by Mackintosh. On both levels the cills aligned with those of 211 and on the second floor the height of the windows was also consistent with its neighbour's. On the third floor, however, the lintels were lowered; on the left side in particular the originally slender bipartite window was made almost square. This change in the proportions of the upper-floor windows seems to have been carried out to harmonise with the horizontal emphasis of the glazing on the ground and first floors, and to lend the elevation the appearance of stability. Mackintosh had long been aware of this issue in relation to glazing. In an untitled paper on architecture of c. 1892 he noted that 'the eye is distracted at huge lofty tenements resting to all appearance on nothing more stable than plate glass for the real actual supports are easily overlooked'. In 1902, shortly before Mackintosh began work on the Willow, Beresford Pite, professor of architecture at the Royal College of Art in London reflected in *Building Industries* that while plate-glass shopfronts with slender mullions which seemed to support solid stone façades above were by that time widespread and known to be stable, the visual effect created by them and emphasised by upper windows not on the scale of or in proportion to the lower floors was still unsettling.

As on the floors below, both second- and third-floor windows were metal-framed with small-paned leaded glass, but the form on each floor differed. The second-floor windows were treated in two sections: the upper sections had deep reveals while the lower, set flush with the wall, comprised either four or two outward-opening segments which formed a bow. Each third-floor window was a conventional-looking sash. Those on the right (W.) were almost flush with the wall while that on the left had deep reveals.

The crowning cornice was aligned with that at 211 but was completely unmoulded, deeper and heavier in appearance. An annotation on the March 1903 drawings describes its construction of wood and cement over the existing classical moulded cornice. Drawings and contemporary photographs show a
concave moulding, or perhaps a narrow gutter, at the top edge of the cornice.

The façade was finished in a perfectly smooth white or light-coloured stucco without moulding. On the outer edges of the ground and first floors were black and purple square tiles in two parallel columns; single columns of larger tiles defined the edges of the second and third floors; single rows decorated the underside of the cornice and the lintel reveals of the second floor windows. The use of mosaic tiles to articulate the edges and details of a facade echoes contemporary work of Mackintosh's acquaintances in Vienna, such as Josef Hoffmann's houses at Hohe Warte (1901 onwards) and the Hoffmann and Wiener Werkstätte's Purkersdorf Sanatorium (opened in 1904).

Sauchiehall Lane

The addition with hipped roof at the rear (S.) of the tenement buildings is thought to have been constructed during the 1890s. Here, Mackintosh inserted a door and four wooden-framed windows with cast-iron lintels. The two windows of the Gallery were bowed with casements of leaded glazing, echoing the first-floor window to the N. The hipped roof was partly glazed. The roughcast chimney serving the rear rooms was tall and slightly battered, and a little different from the shorter, straight-sided chimney in the March 1903 drawings. The roughcast finish, form of the chimney and leaded-glass bow windows closely relate to work of this period by Mackintosh at Windyhill and The Hill House. This façade was very much in the rural Arts & Crafts idiom, and a rather unusual choice for a city-centre back-street location. The upper-floor walls at the rear of the building, of stugged and snecked cream sandstone rubble, were untouched by Mackintosh's scheme.

Interior

The celebrated ornamental interiors were created in 1903. Construction work for service spaces also extended into the basement of 211. Some internal alterations were carried out in 1906 and in 1917, when a further tea room, the Dug Out, was constructed in the basement to the W., at 219. Most of the interiors were reconstructed in 1979–80 using replica pieces: the Gallery balustrade, and the leaded glass doors and mirrored glass wall panels in the first-floor tea room are the only remaining original features.

1903

On the ground floor Mackintosh created three spaces which were discrete but entirely open to one another, demarcation being achieved by structural elements, colour and decoration. The bright 'Front Room', as it was labelled on the March 1903 Dean of Guild drawings, retained the existing tall ceiling height, was lit naturally by the large bands of glazing to Sauchiehall Street and was decorated with a white and light-coloured scheme incorporating the ever-present willow motif. It included the small vestibule with domed glass ceiling and the entrance 'corridor' separated from the main tea room by a tall wooden screen with coloured glass inserts, as at the Ingram Street Tea Rooms. A new fireplace was created in the W. wall of the room.

In the extension at the rear, Mackintosh introduced a new intermediate floor level creating the 'Back Room' or 'Saloon' at ground level and the 'Gallery' above. The Back Room was decorated in dark tones and was linked to the Front Room by an enlarged opening. The Gallery ran around four sides and had a large light-well in the centre, supplying natural light to the ground floor from the partly glazed roof. It was constructed on six rolled-steel beams, two of which, timber-clad, ran through the void of the light-well, echoing the picture-rails that Mackintosh ran across windows at his home in Mains Street a few years previously. This structure provided the Back Room with floor space uninterrupted by supporting columns. Timber joists appeared to project slightly into the light-well from between the Gallery balusters and could be seen supporting the floor from below. A wooden balustrade, which hung below the joists as at Queen's Cross Church and the Glasgow School of Art, comprised simple verticals grouped in threes, some carved with a form perhaps derived from a willow leaf.
Arranged around and adjacent to the balustrade were columns – round tapering to square – supporting a lattice through which the ceiling of the glazed pitched roof could be seen. The lattice appears as a sort of precursor to the Chinese or Blue Room at Miss Cranston's Ingram Street premises. Fireplaces were fitted in the S. wall of the Back Room and Gallery providing focal points. The Gallery floor was around 90 cm lower than the ceiling of the Front Room and here Mackintosh inserted a decorative wrought-iron balustrade, dividing the spaces but maintaining the open view. The main stairs, wood on top of the original stone, were enclosed in a similar, permeable way by a wrought-iron balustrade decorated with glass baubles.

On the first floor behind the wide, bow window was what the the Dean of Guild drawings in 1903 called the Ladies' Room, better known as the exclusive Salon or Room de Luxe with high-backed, silver-painted chairs upholstered in purple velvet, highly decorative leaded glass doors, crystal chandelier and Margaret Macdonald Mackintosh's gesso panel with a design derived from a Rossetti sonnet, 'O ye, all ye that walk in Willowwood' (Coll. Glasgow Museums). The decorative scheme and materials used here were the luxurious highlight of the Willow, if not of all of Miss Cranston's tea rooms. Besides the addition of the sweeping bow of the window, Mackintosh's only other structural intervention was the insertion of a barrel-vaulted ceiling, a feature he would use again in the Cloister Room of 1911 at the Ingram Street Tea Rooms. The Ladies' Room was provided with its own servery and lavatories across the corridor.

On the second floor the 1860s walls were rearranged to form a large Billiards Room at the front of the building, for which Mackintosh designed a billiard table and inserted timber panelling and banquettes around the walls, and a smoking room and lavatories at the rear of the building.

On the third floor, the original arrangement of rooms was maintained. These spaces were used for storage. On the second and third floors doors originally giving access from the main shared staircase to the adjacent building, 211, were blocked up.

In the large room at the rear of the second floor of 211, accessed by the new exterior stair are several features which further suggest Mackintosh's involvement: panelling, a fireplace similar to that of the Billiard Room and a leaded-glass screen. However, they are not shown on the drawings submitted to the Dean of Guild Court in March 1903.

The basement of 217 housed the kitchen, stores and staff lavatories and extended slightly N. and S. out beyond its original footprint. Bladen & Co.'s girders and supporting cast-iron columns were introduced to support the new arrangement of floors above. New interior walls were constructed for staff lavatories, and storage space was extended into the basement of 211. Ventilation ducts on the E. and W. walls of the basement extended upwards to roof level.

Three years after opening, the lavatory and W.C. facilities in the basement were enlarged and an electric extractor was installed on the roof. The new lavatories extended farther into the basement of 211 and the building work including slapping through existing walls.

1906

In December 1916, a set of drawings by architect James Carruthers for a further extension were submitted to the Dean of Guild Court. A new tea room, rest rooms and a vestibule were to be created in the basement of the building to the W. of the tea rooms, 219 Sauchiehall Street, part of the warehouse premises of Brown & Beveridge, cabinetmakers and upholsterers. The rooms would be accessed via a new stair from the Front Room in the existing tea rooms. Three interior elevations of these distinctive new rooms were drawn by Mackintosh, who by this time had settled in London. One drawing is dated February 1917. It is not known how James Carruthers came to be involved in this project, but he appears to have acted as Mackintosh's Glasgow agent. The tea room became known as the Dug Out and commemorated the ongoing First World War through its memorial fireplace which incorporated flags of participating nations. Unfortunately, the Dug Out does not seem to have been photographed, and beyond the drawings very little is known about its design.

According to Carruthers's drawings, the large basement room at the rear of 219 became the tea room, with the new fireplace inserted in the W. wall. A service area on the E. wall was connected to the next-door kitchen.

Carruthers's drawings also show the basin on the N. side of the basement converted to a rest room with a curved bow window to the centre with a circular fountain within it and glazed canted bays to either side. These must have looked out into the basement area, lit by pavement lights above: there was no open area in front of the buildings in Sauchiehall Street at this date. Mackintosh's interior elevation of this wall shows cobalt blue square trellis structures, very like the Chinese or Blue Room at Ingram Street, articulating the bow and canted bays, and largely black furniture.

In the centre, between the tea room and the rest room a reception vestibule was created, reached by a new stair from the front room of 217. The wall towards the tea room was removed and a structural capital inserted to create a more open space. Existing recesses, cupboards and a W.C. were reconfigured and extended W. into an adjacent basement to provide male and female lavatories. A new door in the E. wall linked this basement with the kitchen in 217. Mackintosh's elevation of the W. wall continues the colour scheme of cobalt blue and black. Additionally in the drawings, the lavatory doors are picked out in
grey with grids of differing sizes seemingly pierced in them. The walls either side of the right-hand door, are decorated with a column of green triangles reminiscent of similar motifs and colours at the contemporary Mackintosh project for Mr and Mrs Bassett-Lowke at 78 Derngate, Northampton. A striking contrasting yellow bench with lattice back and arms, upholstered in purple, like earlier silver chairs in the Willow, is shown on the left-hand side of the drawing. It is thought that Margaret Macdonald, alone or perhaps in collaboration with her husband, created a pair of oil paintings for the Dug Out tea room. 21

Later alterations

1927

In 1919, Miss Cranston retired and the Willow Tea Rooms were sold to Glasgow restaurateur John Smith, whose new restaurant was named 'The Kensington'. 22 No alterations appear to have been made at that time. However, in 1927, John Smith sold the building to Daly & Co., who incorporated the former lunch and tea rooms into their neighbouring department store, which extended E. to the junction of Sauchiehall Street and West Campbell Street. Extensive alterations to the exterior and interior were made at that time. 23

Mackintosh's distinctive recessed ground floor was replaced with a plate-glass shop display window continuing the established pattern of Daly's shopfront. The fascia sign was shared with 211. At the boundary of 211 and 217 a substantial cast-iron column with an enormous, solid 'butt' below it in the basement was inserted to support the facades above. Recessed immediately behind the column, a new single entrance door gave access to the large open shop floor inside which was formed by demolishing the party wall between 211 and 217 as far back as the internal staircase. Three massive E.–W. steel beams spanning 211 and 217 were inserted to support the upper floors on removal of the internal load-bearing wall. Two columns and corresponding 'butts' were inserted at the staircase. 24 On the ground floor, a display platform behind the front window of 217 was created and the former doorway to the Dug Out in the W. wall was blocked up. To the rear, at Sauchiehall Lane, the stairs were removed and the door blocked up and a new door in the E. wall of 211 was created to access further departments of Daly's. Some internal decoration, such as the panelling in the former Front Room and the wrought-iron balustrades, was retained by Daly's.

In the basement of 211 and 217, the configuration of lavatories from the time of the Willow Tea Rooms remained largely intact. The kitchen was removed. Doorways and other connections to the basement of 219 were blocked up and a new link door in the E. wall was created, as on the ground floor. The layout and structure of the Gallery and the first, second and third floors of 217 were largely unaltered by Daly's. The decoration, including the leaded-glass doors, the fireplace, vaulted ceiling and Margaret Macdonald Mackintosh's gesso panel were retained in what had been the Ladies' Room or Salon de Luxe. Doorways in 211 on each level adjacent to the internal stair, which had been blocked up for the tea rooms in 1903, were reopened. Improvements were made to the lavatories on the first floor in 217 and new lavatories were fitted on the third floor. A link door was constructed in the E. wall of 211 to connect with other departments of Daly's.

1975–6

By the mid 1970s, Daly's was owned by House of Fraser. The ground floor and Gallery served the purposes of the department store: on the first floor, the former Ladies' Room or Room de Luxe had become the 'Willow Coffee Room'; and the second and third floors had become offices and kitchens respectively. 25

1978–80

Just over 50 years after acquiring the former Willow Tea Rooms, Daly's moved E. along Sauchiehall Street to the newly constructed Sauchiehall Centre, the site of the former Pettigrew & Stephens department store. 217 and its neighbours were bought by property developer Arrowcroft Ltd. When planning permission for the site was granted, conditions were included specifically intended to return 217, as far as was possible, to its 1903 state. Keppie, Henderson & Partners, successors to Honeyman, Keppie & Mackintosh, were commissioned to carry out the restoration work.

As Geoff Wimpenny, architect in charge, reported, the first main task was to return 217 to the status of a self-contained unit by reinstating the load-bearing wall shared with 211 and removing the steel columns at the internal stairs on the ground floor. Although the ground floor of the N. elevation had been dramatically altered for Daly's, it proved less difficult to restore than had been anticipated: the massive rolled-steel and concrete beam carrying the upper floors of the facade and the side fixings for the main window were discovered in situ. New windows corresponding to original designs were installed and many of the original decorative details such as panelling and fireplaces (including the one in the W. wall of the Front Room lost to the Dug Out entrance in 1917) were renewed, restored or replaced with replicas in appropriate materials. Casts were made of surviving Front Room panels while items of 'pseudo-Mackintosh work' in materials which did not exist at his period were removed and replaced. Surviving photographs of the Willow Tea Rooms in 1904 were utilised during the restoration and 'proportioned up' to make accurate recreations of decorative details. 26

Daly's had made a number of further alterations to the building, especially in the Gallery. The lattice ceiling had been removed and replaced with a false, solid ceiling with central light-well. The tapered columns had been removed. The two large, timber-clad beams, visible in the light-well between the Gallery and the ground floor, had also been removed by the 1960s and replaced with load-bearing columns on the ground floor. 27

Funds available in 1979 did not stretch to the reinstatement of the lattice ceiling or the tapered columns, but it was hoped that further funding could be secured. The columns, lattice ceiling and timber-clad beams were reinstated during the 1980s (although the ground-floor columns from the 1960s are still in place in the Back Room in 2011). 28 The Gallery windows in the S. wall which had been much reduced in width were also restored to their 1903 proportions during the 1980s. 29
Challenges during the restoration of the building included difficulties in locating suitable materials and a shortage of necessary craft skills. There were also late-1970s fire safety regulations to be taken into account, which particularly affected work on the main staircase. The architects wished to retain its openness to the ground-floor Gallery, with only the wrought-iron balustrade decorated with glass-baubles. Despite an appeal to the Secretary of State, fire-safe doors and windows were ultimately required to enclose the stair, and access from stair to Gallery was blocked off, thus detracting from the original design. A new access stair to the Gallery was constructed on the W. wall. 30

In November 1983, the Ladies' Room or Salon de Luxe was sublet by Anne Mulhern and reopened as a tea room. In 1996, the Gallery was also brought back into tea room use. Business continues today (2014). The ground floor was leased as a shop in 1983 by M. M. Henderson Ltd, an established local jeweller, who inserted a partition wall towards the back of the ground floor in order to create a store room. This was removed in 2014 to reveal once more the original Back Room fireplace. 31 The jeweller's business vacated the premises in 2013 and the lease was taken over by the Willow Tea Rooms. The upper floors and basement of the building functioned variously as offices, staff rooms and storage for the tea rooms.

Aspects of the restoration work in 1979–80 and the subsequent maintenance of the building have been critically reviewed in conservation reports carried out by Piers Kettlewell in 1999 and by Simpson & Brown, chartered architects, in 2008. The 1999 report recommended in particular the forward repositioning of the first-floor bow window (the 1979–80 reconstruction set the glazing back from the façade; originally the window was flush with the wall), the replacement or improvement of the exterior decorative wrought-ironwork, glass and the re-rendering and repainting of the N. elevation. 32 Simpson & Brown's report was carried out to support a Listed Building Consent application for repairs to the façades. However, in 2014, the N. elevation remains in a poor state of repair. Both reports also highlighted what had been retained and lost from the original 1903 design, and accounted for the whereabouts of some items of moveable furniture. Margaret Macdonald Mackintosh's gesso panel from the Salon de Luxe was in the care of Glasgow Museums, as were the leaded-glass doors from the Salon de Luxe until they were reinstated in 2008. 33

Record keeping

Entries in the Honeymoon & Keppie job books for work supervised by Mackintosh were often exhaustively detailed. For the major work in 1903 everything was outlined, from the mason and joiner work, through furnishings and fittings, to the array of variously-sized coloured glass bobbles decorating stair balustrades and light fittings. The job books are not the only record of work carried out; contractors' records are a rare find. In 1995, the unique viewpoint of measure Dunskin & Purdie was discussed in an article in the Charles Rennie Mackintosh Society Newsletter in relation to their role in the 1903 work at the Willow Tea Rooms (as well as at Miss Cranston's other three businesses). J. M. Trushell, a partner of the firm in 1995, described the 'Cube Books', which recorded the cubic content of the buildings, the estimated cost of the work for each trade before the work was carried out and the measured cost on completion. 34 The measurements for the Willow were a 'mere £74 5s 4d or 2.2% in excess of the estimates – a triumph of surveying skill'. In contrast to the remodelling of the Ingram Street Tea Rooms, the Willow 'was perhaps the quintessence of a carefully cost-controlled project'. 35

Popular and critical reception

On 27 March 1903, very shortly after work was under way on site at the Willow Tea Rooms, Mackintosh wrote to Hermann Muthesius: 'Miss Cranston is delighted with everything I have suggested, she thinks this is going to be by far her best place'. 36 Miss Cranston knew her market well: the design of her new tea rooms was reported in glowing terms by the popular press following its opening in late October 1903. 37

The Glasgow Evening News, sister publication of the Glasgow Herald, named Mackintosh as architect, and 'complimented [him] on the result attained'. The new tea rooms were described as perhaps 'the acme of originality'. The decoration and furnishing of the 'Salon de Luxe' and the stairway were considered highlights. Customer service also met high standards: 'the art studied here has been the art of the highest class'. 38 Miss Cranston's reputation for innovative design and impeccable service was upheld on both counts.

A few days later in the Bailie, Miss Cranston's new tea rooms were said to outshine 'all others in the matters of arrangement and colour', being the richest, most comfortable and most luxurious. The architect was not mentioned. The term 'Salon de Luxe' was used again, and it was described as 'simply a marvel of the art of the upholsterer and decorator'. 39 In a brief notice in the Glasgow Advertiser & Property Circular on 10 November 1903 the contractors were praised for the workmanship of all the specially-made fittings. The new tea rooms were described as 'extremely prettily decorated' and it was considered that the 'artistic scheme' had been carried out with 'great forethought'. 40

Popular admiration for the Willow Tea Rooms was captured in one of Glasgow journalist Neil Munro's humorous stories featuring a character named Erchie, published under the pseudonym Hugh Foulis in the Glasgow Evening News in 1904. 41 In 'Erchie in an Art Tea-Room', Erchie and his friend Duffy, two working-class men, visit the Willow Tea Rooms and, while feeling somewhat out of place and overwhelmed by the artistic and elegant surroundings, comment with awe on the decoration, furnishings and fittings of the various rooms, the system of ordering and Miss Cranston's acumen for choosing such a novel design. They dub the Salon de Luxe the 'Room de Lookers' – a visit to Miss Cranston's was partly about spectacle after all. After noticing the pretty waitress there, Duffy revises this to the 'Room de Good Looks'. 42

The architectural press remained almost silent on the Willow Tea Rooms. As Howarth remarked, 'the architectural profession in this country was left to make what it could of an illustration of the lower half of the façade that appeared in the Builders' Journal and Architectural Engineer'. 43 The illustration was accompanied by a very perfunctory description of 'Miss Cranston's New Restaurant' by Honeymoon, Keppie & Mackintosh, forming a very small part of a long article on new buildings in Glasgow, Scotland Street School among them.

However in April 1905, the German journal Dekorative Kunst, published a substantial and lavish article on the Willow Tea Rooms, illustrated with many photographs. 44 The author, Fernando Agnolotti, was lecturer in Italian at the University of Glasgow, and a friend and passionate supporter of the Mackintoshes. He hailed Mackintosh as one of the few 'muster architects' in Europe and stated that he was under-appreciated in his native city and country. Despite having created masterpieces at the School of Art, Windyhill and The Hill House as well as 'several other less important buildings' in Glasgow, Agnolotti explained that Mackintosh still sought a way to bring his work closer to the people. The ideal method was found in the tea rooms of Miss Cranston, who very much appreciated his architecture and design. Miss Cranston's tea rooms were described collectively as a 'fairyland' created by a 'sorcerer'. 45 At the Willow Tea Rooms, the 'brilliant manifestation of [Mackintosh's] liking for unity of effect, purity and simplicity and his dislike of everything customary' was praised. The fenestration of the ground floor gave a sense of solid stability, the bow window on the first floor was described as cheerful and harmonious and the light-
coloured facade above as triumphant. For 'little birds and elegant ladies alike', the Willow Tea Rooms offered an escape from the polluted city outside. An in-depth description of each room and an explanation of the willow motif followed.

People

Clients:

- Miss Catherine (Kate) Cranston

Contractors:

- George Adam & Son
- Stephen Adam
- Robert Aitken
- William Anderson
- Bladen & Co.
- James Brown
- Burroughs & Watts
- Cooper & Co.
- James Craig & Co.
- Crawford & Craig
- Danskin & Purdie
- William Douglas
- John Finlay & Co.
- Gallbraith & Winton
- James Grant
- Haddow, Forbes & Co.
- Hayward Bros. & Eckstein
- David Hislop
- Henry Hope & Son
- Andrew Hutcheson
- Alex Martin
- Daniel McCallum
- McCulloch & Co.
- R.A. McGilvray & Ferris
- William Miller
- E.C. Morgan & Son
- Osborne & Hunter
- J. Caird Parker
- Pettigrew & Stephens
- Francis Smith
- R. Smith & Co.
- Moses Speirs & Son
- Wylie & Lochhead

Other:

- Henderson's Trustees
- John Cochrane

Job Book

The job books of Honeyman & Keppie (later Honeyman, Keppie & Mackintosh) are now held by The Hunterian, University of Glasgow and include four volumes related to the Mackintosh period. The books were used by the firm to keep a project-by-project, day-by-day record of contractors, suppliers and expenditure. The name of a project and/or client is usually at the top of the left-hand page, followed by information about tradesmen who tendered. The name of the measurer (quantity surveyor) is usually at the top of the right-hand page, followed by information about payments to contractors and suppliers. All of the data for M221 is entered in the tables below.

Page numbering is not consistent in the job books. Sometimes a single number refers to a double-page spread and sometimes each page is individually numbered. Here, each image of a double-page spread is identified by the number given at the top of the left-hand page. (Images of all of the pages from the four job books can be found at Browse Job Books, Visit Book and Cash Book.)

The following information about M221 has been extracted from the job books:
Client: Henderson's Trustees per Andrew MacKinnon

Measurer: Danskin & Purdie
Measurer address: 241 West George Street

Tenders:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Contractor</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Address</th>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Value</th>
<th>Accepted</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>William Miller</td>
<td>several works</td>
<td>Horselethill Road</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£355 16s 6d</td>
<td>yes (6 March 1903)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Daniel McCallum</td>
<td>several works</td>
<td>140 Bothwell Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£341 17s 5d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Kirkwood</td>
<td>several works</td>
<td>33 Hope Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£352 14s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Payments (trades):

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Payment out sum</th>
<th>Payment date: 30 November [1903]</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>William Miller</td>
<td>several works</td>
<td>£280 13s 6d</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Payments (suppliers):

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Service</th>
<th>Payment date</th>
<th>Payment sum</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Robert Aitken</td>
<td>Building inspection</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£4 0s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Honeyman, Keppie &amp; Mackintosh</td>
<td>Architecture</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£16 0s 8d</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Measurer fee payment: £9 16s 0d (30 November [1903])

Phase 2: 217 Sauchiehall Street, 1903–5

Client: Henderson's Trustees

Measurer: Danskin & Purdie
Measurer address: 241 West George Street

Tenders:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Contractor</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Address</th>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Value</th>
<th>Accepted</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>John Kirkwood</td>
<td>mason</td>
<td>33 Hope Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1055 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Miller</td>
<td>mason</td>
<td>Horselethill Road</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1010 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William McCall &amp; Son</td>
<td>mason</td>
<td>5 Balmanno Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£972 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>E. C. Morgan &amp; Son</td>
<td>mason</td>
<td>37 Elderslie Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£913 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (28 March 1903)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Name</td>
<td>Trade</td>
<td>Address</td>
<td>Year</td>
<td>Price</td>
<td>Paid?</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>-----------------------------</td>
<td>----------------</td>
<td>-----------------------------</td>
<td>------</td>
<td>---------</td>
<td>-------</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>W. Guthrie &amp; Co.</td>
<td>Mason</td>
<td>68 Kelvin Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1050 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Grant</td>
<td>Wright</td>
<td>128 Pitt Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1597 11s 4d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William McCall &amp; Son</td>
<td>Wright</td>
<td>5 Balmain Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1649 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Baxter &amp; Son</td>
<td>Wright</td>
<td>20 Catherine Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1640 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Charles Gray &amp; Son</td>
<td>Wright</td>
<td>393 Alexandra Parade</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£1620 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Fyfe &amp; Allan</td>
<td>Plumber</td>
<td>43 St George's Road</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£501 1s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Anderson</td>
<td>Plumber</td>
<td>133 Wellington Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£519 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Moses Speirs &amp; Son</td>
<td>Plumber</td>
<td>17 Bothwell Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£476 15s 10½d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Johnstone &amp; Son</td>
<td>Plumber</td>
<td>130 Renfield Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£500 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Ingleton &amp; Co.</td>
<td>Plumber</td>
<td>168 George Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£465 10s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Forbes</td>
<td>Plasterer</td>
<td>158a Bath Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£415 8s 3½d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>R. A. McGilvray &amp; Ferris</td>
<td>Plasterer</td>
<td>120 West Regent Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£421 6s 9d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Forbes</td>
<td>Plasterer</td>
<td>167 West Graham Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£440 19s 8d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>George Rorne &amp; Co.</td>
<td>Plasterer</td>
<td>136 Waterloo Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£413 13s 8d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Andrew Hutchison</td>
<td>Electric lighting</td>
<td>97 Waterloo Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£211 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Osborne &amp; Hunter</td>
<td>Electric lighting</td>
<td>168a West Regent Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£122 4s 6d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Findlay &amp; Co.</td>
<td>Electric lighting</td>
<td>Renfield Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£125 0s 0d</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Douglas</td>
<td>Painter</td>
<td>West George Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>George W. Sellars</td>
<td>Painter</td>
<td>241 West George Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>H. L. Anderson &amp; Co.</td>
<td>Painter</td>
<td>St Vincent Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Guthrie &amp; Wells</td>
<td>Painter</td>
<td>West George Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>Painter</td>
<td>154 West Regent Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Thomson &amp; Paterson</td>
<td>Painter</td>
<td>Wellington Street</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>George Adam &amp; Son</td>
<td>Wrought iron</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£81 0s 0d 3</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>J. Caird Parker</td>
<td>Grates</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£51 10s 6d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Burroughs &amp; Watts</td>
<td>Billiards equipment</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£94 19s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Henry Hope &amp; Son</td>
<td>Casement windows</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1903</td>
<td>£58 15s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Name</td>
<td>Category</td>
<td>Data in Job Book</td>
<td>Amount</td>
<td>Date</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>-----------------------</td>
<td>-------------------</td>
<td>------------------</td>
<td>-------------------------</td>
<td>------------------------------------</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>David Hislop</td>
<td>clock</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£7 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (no data in job book)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Haddow, Forbes &amp; Co.</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£48 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (1 July 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Galbraith &amp; Winton</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£13 15s 0d</td>
<td>yes (12 August 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£32 18s 6d</td>
<td>yes (30 July and 12 August 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alex Martin</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£48 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (12 August 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£115 18s 0d</td>
<td>yes (20 August 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£46 5s 0d</td>
<td>yes (23 September 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£17 10s 0d</td>
<td>yes (19 and 29 September and 9 October 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alex Martin</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£4 2s 6d</td>
<td>yes (1 February 1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Wylie &amp; Lochhead</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£29 4s 1½d</td>
<td>yes (10 March 1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Craig &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£129 9s 12d</td>
<td>yes (19 August, 14 September and 5 October 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Bladen &amp; Co.</td>
<td>iron</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£9 15s 0d</td>
<td>yes (30 August 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£22 14s 0d</td>
<td>yes (30 July and 21 August 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£69 10s 0d</td>
<td>yes (2 September and 5 November 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Andrew Hutcheson</td>
<td>electric fittings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£28 7s 0d</td>
<td>yes (no data in job book)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Finlay &amp; Co.</td>
<td>electric fittings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£25 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (no data in job book)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Andrew Hutcheson</td>
<td>electric fittings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£19 18s 0d</td>
<td>yes (5 September 1903)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Andrew Hutcheson</td>
<td>metal fittings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£4 4s 0d</td>
<td>yes (1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£5 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (16 May 1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Cooper &amp; Co.</td>
<td>glass for electric fittings</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£53 10s 0d</td>
<td>yes (7 September 1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Cooper &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£8 15s 2½d</td>
<td>yes (7 September 1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Pettigrew &amp; Stephens</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£17 1s 0d</td>
<td>yes (7 September 1904)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Douglas</td>
<td>painter</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£17 1s 0d</td>
<td>yes ([7 September 1904])</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Crawford &amp; Craig</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£5 5s 0d</td>
<td>yes ([7 September 1904])</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£5 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes ([7 September 1904])</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job</td>
<td>£5 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes ([7 September 1904])</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>J. Caird Parker</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>30 January 1905</td>
<td>17s 6d for steel bar</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Moses Speirs &amp; Son</td>
<td>plumber</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£33 12s 6d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Haddow, Forbes &amp; Co.</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£13 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Pettigrew &amp; Stephens</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£8 15s 2½d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Grant</td>
<td>joiner</td>
<td>not recorded</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>cleaning</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£2 0s 0d; no data in job book</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Brown</td>
<td>metalwork</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£2 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

## Payments (trades):

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Payment out sum</th>
<th>Measurer fee payments</th>
</tr>
</thead>
</table>
| E. C. Morgan & Son | mason | First installment: 6 May 1903  
Final installment: 5 May 1904  
£961 16s 9d | £14 12s 9d |
| James Grant | joiner | First installment: 10 July 1903  
Final installment: 7 December 1904  
£1345 6s 11d | £20 8s 0d |
| Moses Speirs & Son | plumber | First installment: 20 August 1903  
Final installment: 19 December 1903  
£657 3s 2d | £10 12s 6d |
| R. A. McGilvray & Ferris | plasterer | First installment: 29 July 1903  
Final installment: 23 November 1903  
£180 8s 6d | £2 14s 0d |
| Osborne & Hunter | electric lighting | First installment: 8 September 1903  
Final installment: 23 March 1904  
£248 2s 8d | |
| McCulloch & Co. | painter & glazier | First installment: 30 October 1903  
Final installment: 21 December 1903  
£121 14s 2d | £3 7s 0d |
| George Adam & Son | wrought iron | First installment: 12 December 1903  
Final installment: 4 March 1904  
£84 4s 0d | |
| J. Caird Parker | grates | Payment date: 28 January 1904  
£70 19s 0d | |
| Burroughs & Watts | Billiards equipment | Payment date: 22 October 1903  
£94 19s 0d | |
| Henry Hope & Son | casement windows | Payment date: 22 October 1903  
£58 15s 0d | |
| David Hislop | clock | Payment date: 30 April 1904  
£7 0s 0d | |
| Haddow, Forbes & Co. | tiler | First installment: 15 September 1903  
Final installment: 29 April 1904  
£60 10s 2d | |
| Galbraith & Winton | tiler | Payment date: 25 February 1904  
£15 14s 6d | |
| Alex Martin | furnishings | First installment: 1 December 1903  
Final installment: 24 December 1903  
£170 8s 2d | |
| Francis Smith | furnishings | Payment date: 28 January 1904  
£323 18s 2d | |
<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Company</th>
<th>Service</th>
<th>Payment date</th>
<th>Amount</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Wylie &amp; Lochhead</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 10 March 1904</td>
<td>£29 4s 4½d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Craig &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 25 January 1904</td>
<td>£152 12s 11d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Bladen &amp; Co.</td>
<td>iron</td>
<td>Payment date: 26 January</td>
<td>£15 12s 6d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>glazier</td>
<td>First installment: 21 January 1904</td>
<td>Final installment: 22 November 1904 £216 17s 8d 53</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Andrew Hutcheson</td>
<td>electric fittings</td>
<td>Payment date: 23 March 1904</td>
<td>£106 3s 9d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John Finlay &amp; Co.</td>
<td>electric fittings</td>
<td>Payment date: 2 November 1903</td>
<td>£25 0s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Andrew Hutcheson</td>
<td>metal fittings</td>
<td>Payment date: 20 October 1903</td>
<td>£4 4s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 8 December 1903</td>
<td>£97s 6d 54</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Cooper &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>First installment: 30 October 1903</td>
<td>Final installment: 23 March 1904 £62 15s 10d 55</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Pettigrew &amp; Stephens</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 23 November 1903</td>
<td>£8 15s 2½d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Douglas</td>
<td>painter</td>
<td>Payment date: 4 March 1904</td>
<td>£17 1s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Crawford &amp; Craig</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 11 April 1904</td>
<td>£4 9s 8d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 31 August 1905</td>
<td>£9 8s 0d 56</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 5 September 1905</td>
<td>£2 10s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>J. Card Parker</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 30 January 1905</td>
<td>£6 0s 7d 57</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Crawford &amp; Craig</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 30 January 1905</td>
<td>£2 4s 0d 58</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Moses Speirs &amp; Son</td>
<td>plumber</td>
<td>Payment date: 30 January 1905</td>
<td>£33 12s 6d 59</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Haddow, Forbes &amp; Co.</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>Payment date: 21 June 1905</td>
<td>£13 0s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Grant</td>
<td>joiner</td>
<td>Payment date: 31 August 1905</td>
<td>£1 6s 9d 60</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>cleaning</td>
<td>Payment date: 26 December 1905</td>
<td>£13 18s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Brown</td>
<td>metalwork</td>
<td>Payment date: 16 April 1906</td>
<td>£2 6s 0d 61</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>painter</td>
<td>Payment date: 22 May 1906</td>
<td>£5 12s 0d 62</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

**Measurer fee payment:** £104 9s 6d (23 December 1904)

Phase 3: Alterations to 211 and 217 Sauchiehall Street, 1906
Client: Miss Catherine (Kate) Cranston

Measurer: no data in job book

Tenders:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Contractor</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Address</th>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Value</th>
<th>Accepted</th>
<th>Accepted date</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Daniel McCallum</td>
<td>mason</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£20 17s 9d 63</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(12 April 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>R. A. McGilvray &amp; Ferris</td>
<td>plasterer</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£14 14s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(17 April)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Anderson</td>
<td>plumber</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£65 17s 6d</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(17 April 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>George Adam &amp; Son</td>
<td>iron</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£7 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(17 April 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Osborne &amp; Hunter</td>
<td>electric lighting</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£21 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(26 April 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Haddow, Forbes &amp; Co.</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£79 0s 0d 64</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(3 May and 4 July 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>glazier</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£6 0s 0d 65</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(5 July 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£6 0s 0d 66</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(11 and 18 July 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Brown</td>
<td>metalwork</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£2 14s 0d 67</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(18 July and 21 August 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£2 8s 0d 68</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(28 August 1906)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Grant</td>
<td>joiner</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>£77 11s 4d 69</td>
<td>yes</td>
<td>(no data in job book)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Payments (trades):

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Payment out sum</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Daniel McCallum</td>
<td>mason</td>
<td>Payment date: 19 September 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£48 6s 5d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>R. A. McGilvray &amp; Ferris</td>
<td>plasterer</td>
<td>Payment date: 29 October 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£31 14s 3d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William Anderson</td>
<td>plumber</td>
<td>Payment date: 1 November 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£76 13s 4d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>George Adam &amp; Son</td>
<td>iron</td>
<td>Payment date: 28 June 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£7 0s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Osborne &amp; Hunter</td>
<td>electric lighting</td>
<td>Payment date: 7 August 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£25 19s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Haddow, Forbes &amp; Co.</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>First installment: 28 June 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>Final installment: 21 September 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£80 13s 2d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Brown</td>
<td>metalwork</td>
<td>First installment: 7 August 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>Final installment: 27 November 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£11 17s 4d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>McCulloch &amp; Co.</td>
<td>painter &amp; glazier</td>
<td>Payment date: 2 November 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£24 13s 6d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis Smith</td>
<td>furnishings</td>
<td>Payment date: 19 November 1906</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£8 8s 0d</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>James Grant</td>
<td>joiner</td>
<td>Payment date: 26 March 1907</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td>£77 11s 4d</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

Payments (suppliers):
### Phase 4: Exterior decoration, 1910

#### Tenders:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Contractor</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Address</th>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Value</th>
<th>Accepted</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Stephen Adam</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1910</td>
<td>£10 0s 0d</td>
<td>yes (1910)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>R. Smith &amp; Co.</td>
<td>iron</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1910</td>
<td>£15 6s 0d</td>
<td>yes (1910)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Osborne &amp; Hunter</td>
<td>electrical wiring</td>
<td>no data in job book</td>
<td>1910</td>
<td>£3 6s 0d</td>
<td>yes (1910)</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

#### Payments (trades):  

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Type</th>
<th>Payment out sum</th>
<th>Payment date</th>
<th>Payment sum</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Stephen Adam</td>
<td>tiler</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>R. Smith &amp; Co.</td>
<td>iron</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Osborne &amp; Hunter</td>
<td>electric wiring</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

#### Payments (suppliers):

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Service</th>
<th>Payment date</th>
<th>Payment sum</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Wylie &amp; Lochhead</td>
<td>'Decorations for Sauchiehall Street for Royal Visit'.</td>
<td>29 June 1910</td>
<td>£20 10s 0d</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

### Documents

#### Images

- Barricade around the building site at 217 Sauchiehall Street, Dekorative Kunst, 8, 1905, p. 257
- N. elevation, Dekorative Kunst, 8, 1905, p. 258
- Front elevation, Builders' Journal and Architectural Engineer, 24, 28 November 1906, p. 263
- S. elevation, 1903
- View of Sauchiehall Street looking E., 1910-12
- Front Room, looking S., Dekorative Kunst, 8, 1905, p. 260
Bibliography

Published

- Fernando Agnoletti, 'Ein Mackintosh Teehaus in Glasgow', *Dekorative Kunst*, 12, April 1905, pp. 257–75
- *Builders' Journal and Architectural Engineer*, 28 November 1906, p. 263

Unpublished

- Piers Kettlewell, Conservation Report, 1999
- Glasgow City Archives Collection: Dean of Guild Court, Register of Inspections, D-OPW 25/8, p. 128
- Glasgow City Archives Collection: Dean of Guild Court, Register of Inspections, D-OPW 25/9, p. 61
- Glasgow City Archives Collection: Dean of Guild Court, Register of Inspections, D-OPW 25/10, p. 115

Notes:
31: On the longitudinal section, Mackintosh noted in red ink that this 'window will not project more than 12 ins from building line': in fact it was the wall and window together which projected beyond the existing building line.


36: The colour of the tiles is given in Fernando Agnoletti, 'Ein Mackintosh Teehaus in Glasgow', Dekorative Kunst, 12, April 1905, pp. 257–75, p. 262.


42: The name Salon de Luxe was used in contemporary newspaper reports on the opening of the tea rooms. See 'Popular and Critical Reception' below.


46: Coll. The Glasgow School of Art


57: The Hunterian, University of Glasgow, Willow Tea Rooms building file, copies of Keppie, Henderson & Partners drawings prepared for the 1979
reconstruction. Geoff Wimpenny, 'Reconstructing the Willow', *Charles Rennie Mackintosh Society Newsletter*, 24, Winter 1979–80, p. 5. When Wimpenny's article was published it was not clear whether the building would function as a tea room again.


64: This is the first time the first-floor tea room is named 'Salon de Luxe'; Mackintosh's drawings submitted to the Dean of Guild Court referred to it as the Ladies' Room.


67: *Glasgow Advertiser & Property Circular*, 10 November 1903, p. 3.


71: Fernando Agnoletti, ‘Ein Mackintosh Teehaus in Glasgow’, *Dekorative Kunst*, 12, April 1905, pp. 257–75


75: Original tender of £1600 0s 0d.

76: 'List of Prices'.

77: For gate, two lamps, two hanging signs, ventilation grates, stair railing and balcony balustrade.

78: In Back Saloon, Front Saloon, Ladies' Room, Billiard Room and Smoking Den.

79: For billiard table and 'marking board'.

80: In Back Saloon, Billiard Room and Ladies' Room.

81: Clock for Billiard Room.

82: For two lavatories.

83: 'porch floor', 'window breast' and 'tiles behind sink etc'.

84: For thirty four tables and two mirrors.

85: 'small chairs @ 16/6'.

86: '8 high chairs @ £2.16' and '34 small chairs @ £2.15'.

87: '9 rush seats & 18 leather banks for Billiard Room'.

88: '50 chairs at 18/6 each'. 
89: 'Linoleum - 2/10½ per yard'; seats for Front Saloon, Back Saloon, Gallery and Ladies' Room; tables for Billiard Room and Smoking Room; 'Rubber [beads/heads] etc'.
90: 'Chair at order desk'.
91: '68¾ yards velvet 8/6'.
92: 'Carpet for Ladies' Room and Billiard Room; three stair carpets.
93: 'Galvanized iron flue'.
94: Leaded window in Ladies' Room, Billiard Room and ground floor, and glass for chimney pieces.
95: Mosaic panels in Back Saloon and Ladies' Room; glass panels in Ladies' Dressing Room and Gallery fireplace; panels for entrance screen and Gallery fireplace; plate glass in Gallery roof.
96: Reflectors: ten in Billiard Room, two in Dressing Room passage, one for Porch, four for Back Saloon; eighty glass fittings.
97: '10 fittings for Staircase'.
98: Fittings at ground floor, Smoking Den and passage to Ladies' Room; ceiling rose; Billiard Table light.
99: Ash trays, umbrella stands, and hat hooks in Ladies' Room.
100: Hat stands for Ladies' Room.
101: Ladies' Room: two 'globes', thirty-three dozen clear 'drops' and six dozen clear and green 'drops', seventeen dozen clear 'beads' and eight dozen ruby 'beads'. For the staircase: five dozen green and blue 'beads'.
102: 'Flower vase No. 8664 each 3/-'.
103: 'Silk for Ladies' Room'.
104: 'Painting Hoarding etc'.
105: Window curtains.
106: £9 8s 0d entered above. Two 'lug' chairs.
107: Glass for 'lug' chairs.
108: Alterations to fireplace in ground-floor Front Saloon and steel bar.
109: 'Resewing window screens'.
110: 'New service tank', 'lining new service tank with 6lb lead', 'connecting with new meter', 'new ¾" supply pipe'.
111: 'At Window breast & sides & front of jambs ground floor'.
112: 'Silk dado'
113: 'Altering flower boxes'.
114: 'Cleaning front'.
115: '2 flower boxes'.
116: Includes ½ measurer's fee
117: ½ measurer's fee
118: Includes ½ measurer's fee
119: ½ measurer's fee
120: Includes ½ measurer's fee
121: ½ measurer's fee
122: Includes ½ measurer's fee
123: \(\frac{1}{2}\) measurer's fee

124: \(\frac{1}{2}\) measurer's fee

125: Including 'Hooks to hold down Grating' and 'Iron for Flower Stand'.

126: '137 chairs'; '50 arm chairs'; '17 yards linen'; four stools.

127: 'Plate glass in Gallery roof'; 'Squares in Smoking Den'; '2 ovals in [???], [?] [?] panel in Ladies' Room'; 'Frames for upright glass in roof'; 'Fitting lead on hanging signs'.

128: 'Hat Stands'; 'Semi-circular Chair'; 'sewing rings on curtains'; 'lifting & relaying linoleum'.

129: 'Glass Drops'; 'Clear & Ruby Beads'; '23 Flower Tubes 8664 3/- each'; 'Flower Bowl'.

130: Two 'lug' chairs.

131: Alters to fireplace in ground-floor Front Saloon and steel bar.

132: 'Resewing window screens'.

133: 'new service tank', 'lining new service tank with 6lb lead', 'connecting with new meter', 'new \(\frac{3}{4}\)" supply.

134: 'altering flower boxes'.

135: 'Flower Boxes'.

136: 'Painting Front'.

137: Tender for 'slapping etc'.

138: Tender for 'tile work'; value of latter tender, for '4 tile panels', no data in job book.

139: '3 glass panels'.

140: '2 chairs 24/- each'; '4 flower stands 18/-'.

141: Tender for 'Fittings for Towel Racks'; tender for 'Ventilating shafts' no data in job book.

142: '2 chairs 24/- each'.

143: '10% over cost'

144: 'Ventilating shafts'; 'Fittings for towels'.

145: 'Painter work'; 'printing [?]'; '3 glass panels'; '56 purple squares'.

146: '4 chairs'; 'for the Room De Luxe 4 flower stands'.

147: For '2 Mosaic panels'.

148: For '2 outside Lanterns'.

Mackintosh Architecture: Context, Making and Meaning

Led by The Hunterian, University of Glasgow, funded by the Arts and Humanities Research Council; with additional support from The Monument Trust, The Pilgrim Trust, and the Paul Mellon Centre for Studies in British Art; and collaborative input from Historic Scotland and the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland.

© copyright 2014

Contact us